
EXECUTIVE
AGENDA

Venue: The Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, 
Catherine Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ 

Date: Monday, 7th October, 2019
Time: 10.00 am
Contact Officer: Clive Willoughby              Tel: 01946 598328

1. Apologies for Absence 

2. Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 16 September 
2019 

1 - 8

3. Declarations of Interests in Agenda Items: 

4. Written Questions from Members of the Public 

5. Reports from Overview and Scrutiny Committee 

6. Forward Plan 9 - 14

7. Finance Update 15 - 18

8. Seamill Coastal Erosion Protection 19 - 32

9. Cemetery Management 33 - 50

10. Date and Time of Next Meeting: 

The next meeting of the Executive will be held on Monday 4 November 
2019 at 10:00am in the Bainbridge Room, The Copeland Centre, Catherine 
Street, Whitehaven. CA28 7SJ

NOTES

Members of the public are welcome to attend this meeting as observers except during the 
consideration of exempt or confidential items. If you have a query on the meeting 
arrangements or if you require a copy of this document in a different format (large print, 
braille, audio tape, electronic formats such as CD or in a different language) please contact 
the relevant officer as shown below. 

Call-In

Public Document Pack



Most of the decisions taken by the Executive can be ‘called in’, in accordance with Council’s 
Constitution, within 5 working days of the decision notice being published. It is expected 
that the decision notice will be published on 10 October 2019. Subject to this publication, 
the deadline for calling in any decision is 5.00pm on 17 October 2019. 

Emergency procedures
In the event of a fire alarm being sounded please follow the instructions of the Chair; leave 
the building via the nearest emergency exit and make your way to the Fire Assembly Point 
located in the Copeland Centre car park.

Reporting 
Recording, filming and reporting of this meeting is allowed but must be done in accordance 
with the protocol which is clearly displayed in the room and all mobile devices must be 
switched to silent.

Contacts: Direct Dial: 01946 598328
E-mail: clive.willoughby@copeland.gov.uk
Website: www.copeland.gov.uk



Notice of Decisions Taken Under Delegated Powers 
by the Executive on Monday, 16 September 2019

NOTES: The deadline for calling in any of these decisions is 5.00 pm on 26 September 2019.

A copy of the Executive agenda setting out all the reports has previously been circulated to all 
Members of the Council.

Officers are asked to read this Decision Notice, as it is the responsibility of the Officer named in 
the Action Column to ensure that the appropriate action is taken.

If you require further information on any issue, please contact the Officer named in the right hand 
column.  For general information or to obtain a copy of any documentation please contact 
Democratic Services.

Present: Mike Starkie (Mayor); Councillors David Moore (Deputy Mayor), Michael McVeigh, 
Gwynneth Everett  and Steven Morgan.

Apologies for Absence: 

Officers Present: Pat Graham, Chief Executive; Julie Betteridge, Director of Growth and Inclusive 
Communities; Sarah Pemberton, Director of Corporate Services and Commercial Strategy 
(Monitoring Officer); Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources; Mike Graham, Political 
Advisor; Clinton Boyce, Solicitor; Stephanie Shaw, Electoral and Democratic Services Manager; 
Clive Willoughby, Democratic Services Officer; Andrew Clarke, Communications and Engagement 
Manager; James Young, Scrutiny Officer; Amanda Starr, Strategic Housing and Social Inclusion 
Manager; Peta Leigh; Policy Officer; Gillian Butterworth, Performance and Risk Management 
Officer. 

Statements of Decisions – The Statements of Decisions made on the 19th August 2019 were signed 
by the Mayor as a correct record.

Public Document Pack

Page 1

Agenda Item 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
3. DECLARATIONS OF INTERESTS IN AGENDA ITEMS:

To receive any declarations of interests in agenda items.

Decision

Councillor Steven Morgan declared a personal interest in Agenda Item 8 
(2019-2024 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy).

Reason for Decision

Due to being Chairman of Calderwood House.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
4 WRITTEN QUESTIONS FROM MEMBERS OF THE PUBLIC

Decision

Not applicable as no questions had been received from Members of the 
public.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 2



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
5 REPORTS FROM OVERVIEW AND SCRUTINY COMMITTEE

To receive any recommendations from the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee. 

Decision

Not applicable as no recommendations had been received from the 
Overview and Scrutiny Committee.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
6. FORWARD PLAN

To consider the Executive’s Forward Plan.

Decision

RESOLVED – That the Forward Plan of Key decisions and Work Plan be 
noted.

Reason for Decision

The Local Authority (Executive Arrangements (Access to information 
(England) Regulations 2012 requires a forward plan to be prepared in 
respect of key decisions.  The work plan is good practice.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

Page 3



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
7. BREXIT PREPARATION 

To consider a report updating the Executive on the Council’s preparations 
for Brexit.

Decision

RESOLVED – that update on the Council’s preparations for Brexit be noted.

Reason for Decision

The UK may be leaving the European Union on 31st October 2019 and, to 
date, the government has not reached agreement on a deal.   In order to 
prepare for the exit from the EU, Copeland Borough Council has formed a 
Brexit Preparation working group which is monitoring the position 
regarding the implications for Copeland and our links to Cumbria as a 
whole.  
Copeland continue to liaise closely within Cumbria County Council particularly in 
relation to the Government Brexit preparations around communications to 
residents.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Julie Betteridge,
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Page 4



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
8. 2019-2024 HOMELESSNESS AND ROUGH SLEEPING STRATEGY 

To consider the 2019-2024 Homelessness and Rough Sleeping Strategy. 

Decision

RESOLVED – that 
(a) the refresh of the Copeland Homelessness Strategy be noted; and
(b) delegated authority be granted for the Director of Growth and 

Inclusive Communities and Strategic Housing & Social Inclusion 
Manager to finalise the document and update Full Council via the 
Portfolio Holders Report 

Reason for Decision

The Copeland Homelessness Strategy is a public document setting out The 
Councils strategic plan to prevent and relieve homelessness.  The Council is 
required to demonstrate to Government how it is working with 
communities to plan and build better places to live for everyone.  This 
strategy contributes by ensuring the Council delivers its strategic function 
and in addition provides an effective non-statutory wrap service over.  This 
is over and above our statutory duty and ensures housing related support is 
accessible for our most vulnerable people.  

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Julie Betteridge,
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Page 5



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
9. CORPORATE STRATEGY 2016-2020 PERFORMANCE REPORT FOR QUARTER 

ONE OF 2019-20 

Decision

RESOLVED – that progress and performance against the Corporate Strategy 
Delivery Plan and KPIs and any actions taken to improve compliance with 
targets be noted.
 
Reason for Decision

The report provides the Executive with details of progress and performance 
against the Corporate Strategy 2016-2010 for Quarter One of 2019-20.

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Sarah 
Pemberton, 
Head of 
Governance and 
Commercial

Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
10. STRATEGIC ASSET MANAGEMENT PLAN 2019-2023 

To review the Strategic Asset Management Plan 2019-2023.   

Decision

RESOLVED – that the Strategic Asset Management Plan 2019-2023 be 
reviewed and recommended to Council for adoption.

Reason for Decision

Council holds a large portfolio of land assets and a number of buildings 
across the Borough. Through proactive management, partnership working, 
investment and diversification of its asset base the Council can support its 
ambition to become a commercially focused organisation with a national 
reputation for high quality services.
The Council’s Strategic Asset Management Plan was last updated in October 
2013. To ensure strategic alignment to the Council’s Corporate Strategy, 
Commercialism and other adopted policies, the  Strategic Asset 
Management Plan has been updated and will be reviewed on an annual 
basis going forward. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Julie Betteridge,
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Page 6



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
11. CHRISTMAS PARKING ARRANGEMENTS

To consider whether car parking charges are to be waived in support of the 
local economy in the lead up to Christmas 2019 

Decision

RESOLVED – That 
a) free parking at Council operated car parks in the lead up to 

Christmas 2019 be supported, and
b) the arrangements for free parking be delegated to the Mayor in 

consultation with the S151 Officer.

Reason for Decision

The Council operates 10 chargeable car parks in Whitehaven, Egremont and 
St Bees generating a total income of around £450k per annum. Income 
comes from pay and display parking, long term permits and from penalty
charge notices. Parking charges normally apply from 8am till 8pm daily
including weekends. 

The Council has traditionally offered a limited amount of free parking in 
support of local businesses in the lead up to the festive period. In 2018 free 
parking was offered in Whitehaven and Egremont for the towns respective 
Christmas light switch-on events, and for all Copeland car parks from 
22 December 2018 to 1 January 2019. 

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

No other options were considered.

Julie Betteridge,
Director of 
Growth and 
Inclusive 
Communities

Steven Brown
Director of 
Financial 
Resources

Page 7



Item 
No.

Decision Action by

 
12. DATE AND TIME OF NEXT MEETING:

Decision

It was noted that the next meeting of the Executive would be held on 
Monday 7 October 2019 at 10:00am in the Bainbridge Room.

Reason for Decision

N/A

Alternative options considered and rejected (if any)

N/A

N/A

The Meeting closed at 10:30 am 

Mayor

Page 8



 
 

EXEC 7 October 2019
MAYOR’S FORWARD PLAN AND WORK PLAN 

 
This Plan is published in accordance with the Local Authorities (Executive Arrangements) (Meetings and Access to Information) (England) 
Regulations 2012. It provides details of key decisions which the Executive will be making during the above period. 
 
A key decision is a decision made by the Mayor either by himself, through his Executive, by individual Executive members or by officers 
performing an Executive function and is one which either results in the Council incurring expenditure or making savings which are significant 
(compared to the local authority’s budget for the service or function to which the decision relates) or is one which is significant in terms of its 
effects on communities living or working in an area comprising of two or more wards or electoral divisions in the area. The Council’s 
constitution states that ‘significant’ includes (a) any decision by the Executive in relation to proposed recommendations to Council to amend 
the policy framework; (b) any single item of expenditure or savings in excess of £50,000; or (c) any decision which is likely to have a 
permanent or long term (more than 5 years) effect on the Council or the Borough. 
 
A key decision cannot be made until at least 28 clear days has elapsed between publication of this document and the day the decision is made. 
An exception to this rule is where such publication of intention is impracticable. In those circumstances the period of 28 clear days may be 
reduced to 5 clear days provided that the chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny Committee has been informed of the matter and shorter 
notice has been publicised. If 5 clear days cannot be given then a decision may only be made if the Chairman of the Overview and Scrutiny 
Committee has agreed to the making of the decision on the grounds that the decision is urgent and cannot unreasonably be deferred. 
 
Where the decision maker is shown to be the Executive, the Executive will comprise of Mayor Mike Starkie and Councillors David Moore as 
Deputy Mayor, Michael McVeigh, Gwynneth Everett and Steven Morgan.
 
Copies of any document listed in the plan will be available from the officer shown in the table when the report is released, subject to them not 
containing confidential or exempt information. 
 

  

P
age 9

A
genda Item

 6



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Finance Update Executive Executive 
7 October 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Cemetery 
Management

Executive Executive 
7 October 2019

Commercial Services
Cllr Steven Morgan

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes Yes

High Street Fund 
update

Executive OSC
3 October 2019
Executive 
4 November 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes Yes

Corporate Strategy Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

Nuclear Position 
Statements

Executive Executive 
4 November 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Inclusive Growth 
Update

Executive Executive 
4 November 2019 

Inclusive Communities
Gwynneth Everett

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Copeland’s Climate 
Policy Statement

Council Executive 
4 November 2019 
Council 
2 December 2019

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

P
age 10



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Electric Vehicle 
Charging 
Infrastructure

Council Executive 
4 November 2019 
Council 
2 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

Millom Hub Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019 
            

Inclusive Communities
Gwynneth Everett

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 2 

Executive  Executive 
4 November 2019 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

People Strategy Executive Personnel Panel
18 October 2019
Executive 
4 November 2019 

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

No Yes

Local Plan Council Special Council 
11 November 2019

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

P
age 11



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

PFI Council Special Council 
11 November 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes Yes

Constitution changes Council Special Council 
11 November 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Constitution changes Council Council 
2 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

Local Plan Preferred 
Options

Council Council 
2 December 2019

Environment & Place
Cllr Michael McVeigh

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

Strategic Asset 
Management Plan

Council Executive 
16 September 2019
Council 
2 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

High Street Fund Executive Executive 
9 December 2019

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities 

Yes Yes

Health and Safety 
Monitoring ½ Yearly 
Report  

Executive  Executive 
9 December 2019

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive

No No

P
age 12



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Amendments to 
Discretionary Relief 
Policy

Executive  Executive 
13 January 2020 

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities 

Yes No

Discount and 
Premium Policy

Council Executive 
13 January 2020
Council 
10 February 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Julie Betteridge   – 
Director of Growth and 
Inclusive Communities

Yes No

Budget Consultation 
Outcome

Executive Executive 
13 January 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Draft Budget Council Executive 
13 January 2020
Council 
10 February 2020

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources

Yes No

Bi-Annual 
Monitoring Officer’s 
Report

Council Council 
10 February 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

No No

Pay Policy Statement Council Council 
10 February 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Pat Graham – 
Chief Executive 

Yes No

P
age 13



Report Who will 
make the 
decision 

Date on which the 
decision will be 
made 

Portfolio 
Holder

Lead Officer Key 
Decision

Likely to contain
confidential
or exempt

information

Constitution – 
Financial Regulations

Council Council 
10 February 2020

Nuclear & Corporate 
Services
Cllr David Moore

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 
10 February 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 3 

Executive  Executive 
10 February 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

2019/20 Council 
Performance Plan –  
Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive 
May 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Sarah Pemberton –
Director of Corporate 
Services and Commercial 
Strategy (M.O.)

Yes No

2019/20 Finance 
Report – Quarter 4 

Executive  Executive 
May 2020 
            

Mayor
Mike Starkie

Steven Brown – 
Director of Financial 
Resources 

Yes No

 

P
age 14



Executive 071019

Finance Update 

PORTFOLIO HOLDER
LEAD OFFICER:

Mike Starkie
Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources

REPORT AUTHOR: Steven Brown, Director of Financial Resources

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?
These proposals ensure the proper administration of the Council’s financial affairs to 
enable the continued delivery of services to Copeland residents. 

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?
This report provides the Executive with an updated view of the financial context in 
preparation for setting the Medium term financial plan and budget for 2020/21. 

RECOMMENDATIONS:
The Executive is recommended to note the updated financial context.

1. INTRODUCTION

Financial Context Background

1.1. Local authorities have been traditionally been funded based on how much 
Government determine they need to provide services in their area; called the 
‘Baseline Need’. Information such as population, rurality, deprivation and 
historical spending previously went into a ‘funding formula’ and was used to 
derive how much a local authority needed to fund its services. After taking 
account of local Council Tax and a share of Business Rates each local authority 
received a central funding grant (Revenue Support Grant - RSG) upto its ‘Baseline 
Need’. 

1.2. Since 2010, following the 2008 banking crisis, the funding formula was frozen, 
meaning local authorities did not get additional funding if their Baseline Need 
changed, say through an increase in population. Austerity measures saw the RSG 
reduce significantly until now, when local authorities are predominantly funded 
by Council Tax, a share of Business Rates and a few specific grants. For Copeland 
the RSG in 2013/14 RSG was £3,312,000, and in 2019/20 RSG is just £39,000, and 
this is likely to be the final year the Council receives this grant.

Page 15

Agenda Item 7



1.3. During this period various Government incentives have been introduced in order 
to focus local authorities on key national priorities such as:

a) New Homes Bonus – funding awarded when new homes are built.

b) Retained Business Rates – an increased share of business rates for local 
authorities that stimulate and grow their local economy.

1.4. Additional Central Government funding has also been provided to local 
authorities for some cost pressures, for example:

a) Adult Social Care Grant – provided to authorities with social care pressures; 
and 

b) Rural Services Delivery Grant – provided to rural authorities where there is 
a recognition that providing some services in rural areas can be more costly. 

1.5. In recent years, Government has agreed to reform local government funding to 
reflect the current Needs of local authorities; as this has not changed since the 
formula was frozen in 2013. In addition, Government has committed to provide a 
more simple and transparent methodology to allocate funding and has consulted 
on two key areas of funding that was expected to take effect from April 2020:

 Business Rates Retention - The 50% Business Rates Retention system has 
been in place since 2013, it allows local government as a whole to retain 
50% of the business rates it collects. Through a process of ‘top up’ 
payments, and ‘tariffs’,  each local authority keeps a share of the business 
rates in its area upto its Baseline Need. Individual local authorities can then 
benefit from any growth over and above this Baseline Need, and 
conversely, experience reduced income, upto a ‘safety net’, for any decline 
in Business Rates. 

 Fair Funding - The fair funding review will change and update the ‘Baseline 
Needs’ formula.

1.6. The details of the above consultations were only expected to emerge during 
2019 and thus the financial impact was unknown when the Medium Term 
Financial Strategy (MTFS) and Budget was set in February 2019. 

1.7. Government also announced in 2018 that following Brexit a spending review 
would be undertaken in 2019 for the four-year period 2020/21 to 2023/24; this 
would set the spending budgets for each of government the departments.

1.8. In February 2019, Council agreed the Mayor’s Budget for 2019/20 and the three 
year MTFS. This report identified that ‘to balance the budget in future years a 
further £1.4m savings and/or additional income will need to be identified; this 

Page 16



will be a priority for the next Council’. 

Financial Context – National Update

1.9. Since February 2019, when the MTFS and budget was set, a number of 
announcements have been made, or are expected to be made, that changes the 
financial context for the authority:

 The delay in Brexit and subsequent change in Prime Minister and Cabinet 
has led to a number of key announcements for the sector:

- A one-year spending review has now been announced for 2020/21, 
instead of the anticipated four-year settlement. The review confirmed 
that there would be no real term decrease for any government 
department, and a real terms increase for most. Whilst this is good 
news for the sector, any increase in funding for MHCLG is expected to 
relate to social care.

- The detail of the spending review suggests that the referendum limit 
that would need to be consulted upon will be between 2.5% and 3.0%; 
the MTFS for 2019/20 assumes 2%. A further 1% increase equates to 
c£42k.

- It has been confirmed that the fair funding review and reform of 
business rates retention, originally planned to take effect from April 
2020, will be delayed a year to 2021. 

 The Office of Budget Responsibility (OBR) in its July 2019 report provided an 
updated view on the economy:

- It gave its clearest signal yet of its expectation that the economy may 
be about to enter a recession. Significant pressures on public spending 
from non-demographic cost pressures in health and social care, and 
the impact of an ageing population on them and the state pension, are 
likely to place a significant strain on the public finances over the 
medium term. 

- CPI inflation forecasts are stable over the next five years at broadly 2%.

 Local Government does not have an agreed pay settlement from April 2020 
but it is expected to be in excess of the 2% assumed in the MTFS. The three 
largest Local Government unions, (UNISON, GMB and Unite) have 
submitted a pay claim that would see council employees receiving a 10% 
pay rise. Most local authorities have assumed 2% but are suggesting that 
this needs to be increased.

Page 17



1.10. This updated financial context nationally allows a number of assumptions 
underpinning the MTFS to be updated:

 The delay in Fair Funding and the reform of business rates retention means 
the Council may benefit from business rates pooling income and the growth 
in business rates in 2020/21.

 The budgeted pay award is 2% in the draft budget for 2020/21. 

Developing the MTFS

1.11. The Council is required by law to set a balanced budget for the coming year. In 
developing the 2020 – 2023 MTFS consideration will need to be given to any 
emerging pressures or savings identified in the budget monitoring reports, 
government announcements as part of the provisional settlement (due early 
December) and consider options to balance the budget.

2. CONCLUSIONS

2.1. This paper provides an updated financial context for budget planning purposes.

3. STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

3.1. Legal and Monitoring Officer’s comments are: There are no legal issues arising 
from this report.

3.2. The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

3.3. EIA Comments

3.4. Policy Framework

3.5. Other consultee comments, if any:

4. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

4.1. As set out in the report.

5. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE  MANAGED?

5.1. Risks will be considered during the process of preparing the MTFS. 

 

Page 18



EXEC 071019

Seamill Coastal Erosion Protection

LEAD MEMBER: Councillor McVeigh
LEAD OFFICER: Jackie O’Reilly
REPORT AUTHOR: David Bechelli

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

The proposal will provided additional protection from coastal erosion to properties at 
Seamill, St Bees.

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

The level of funding applied for to undertake the work is above the threshold for officer 
approval and needs to be approved by Executive.

RECOMMENDATIONS:

Executive is asked to approve the receipt of £150k of Flood and Coastal Erosion Funding 
Grant in Aid funding, should it be offered to Copeland Borough Council.  This is to 
extend the scope of proposed Network Rail coast protection works at Seamill.  

Executive is asked, subject to agreement being in place, the transfer of the £150k of 
Flood and Coastal Erosion Funding Grant in Aid funding to Network Rail allowing it to 
undertake the work on the Council’s behalf.

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 Under the Coast Protection Act 1949 Copeland Borough Council is the coast 
protection authority for Copeland coast.  The permissive powers under the act 
allow the council to undertake works to protect property.  Funding for new coastal 
protection schemes is granted funded by Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk 
Management Grant in Aid (FCERMGiA).  

1.2 The current shoreline management plan for Seamill is to the Hold the Line – this 
recognises the continued use and importance of the rail line.

1.3 Copeland Borough Council does not have a duty to protect transport infrastructure 
from coastal erosion.  Transport undertakers such as Network Rail and Highways 
authorities undertake work to protect their assets 

Page 19

Agenda Item 8



1.4 Network Rail are undertaking coastal protection works to protect the Railway line 
that runs along the coast at St Bees.

1.5 Land ownership and costal defence responsibility along the St Bees coast Five 
properties and the Cumbrian coastal railway at Seamill are under threat of being 
lost to over the medium term (50 years).  Copeland Borough Council has previously 
submitted a bid for Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management Grant in Aid 
(FCERMGiA) funding within the next “Six Year Programme”.

1.3 The proposed scheme at Seamill seeks initial FCERMGiA funding in 2020/2021.  
The announcement of indicative allocations of funding is now expected to be made 
in early November 2019.  The raw economics determined to date show a low 
benefit to cost ratio meaning a large partnership funding amount will be required 
to attraction the FCERMGiA funding to deliver the proposed scheme.  Network rail 
had been identified as the main partnership contributor.

1.3 The Environment Agency contacted Copeland to assess the possibility of extending 
the Network rail coastal protection works at Seamill that are starting on 14th 
October 2019.

1.4 The grant funding opportunity has arisen due to a projected underspend in 
FCERMGiA within the current financial year the opportunity to apply for some of 
this money to increase the scope of the Network Rail scheme has arisen.

1.5 An “Exceptions Request” has already been submitted to the Environment Agency 
for £150k.  This will allow the Network Rail scheme to be increased, so additional 
rock armour can be placed protecting the northernmost coastal property at 
Seamill.

1.6 The “Exceptions Request” indicates that the application for funding meets the first 
stage due to the benefit to cost ratio, as an add on to the Network Rail scheme.

2. DISCUSSION

2.1 The “Exceptions Request” was submitted to the Environment Agency on 19th 
September 2019.

2.2 There is no set date for the first stage of approval to be given by the Environment 
Agency.  The first meeting to discuss such request is understood to be on 24th 
September 2019.

Page 20



2.3 Should the “Exceptions Request” be approved at this stage, an Outline Business 
Case will then need to be submitted.  The timescale for such approval is around 4 
to 6 weeks.

2.4 Network Rail has applied to the Marine Management Organisation (MMO) for a 
Marine Licence to commence on 14th October 2019 and to last until 13th October 
2024 allowing it to undertake the work.

2.5 Network Rail has indicated that subject to approvals it can deliver the additional 
works that the within the additional Flood and Coastal Erosion Risk Management 
Grant in Aid (FCERMGiA) funding requested.  This will need a variation in the 
Marine Licence, a process which should take 4 weeks.

2.6 Once Network Rail delivers it scheme, it will have no need in the foreseeable 
future to undertake coast protection work at Seamill and therefore will have no 
need to provide a partnership contribution to Copeland’s proposed scheme in the 
“Six Year Programme”.  Therefore, it is highly unlikely that there will be sufficient 
partnership funding for Copeland Borough Council to deliver a scheme at Seamill.

2.7 The estimated time for final approval from the Environment Agency is only a 
matter of days before Network Rail’s own works will be completed on site.  
Allowing time for an application for a variation to the Marine Licence to be made 
and granted, there will be a period of approximately 4 weeks delay.  

2.8 Based on initial confirmation that Network Rail could deliver the additional work 
for £75k (the amount initially discussed), there is sufficient contingency to cover 
cost cause by a pause in works.

2.9 Should funding be granted to the Council, but no agreement for Network Rail to 
deliver the works be agreed, the Council has the option to deliver the works itself.  
This would require an application to the MMO for a Marine Licence, which has a 
statutory 14 week determination period.  In addition the Council will have to 
undertake the procurement of the works itself, which would take a minimum of 10 
weeks.  The best estimate for being granted a Marine Licence is late in March 
2020.  Although the site works is anticipated to last only a few days, there no scope 
to delay, as substantial expenditure is to be made within the current financial year.

2.10 A rough estimate provided by a contractor to undertake the additional works as a 
bespoke project would cost around £150k, leaving no contingency.

Page 21



3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED

3.1 The Council could elect to decline to take funding at this time and continue to 
purse funding through its bid in the “Six Year Programme”, which is unlikely to 
attract the necessary funding.

3.2 The Council could elect to accept the funding at this time, if offered and subject to 
all agreements and approvals, transfer funding to Network Rail to undertake the 
work on its behalf.

3.3 The Council could elect to accept the funding at this time, but elect to deliver the 
work itself.  Or Network Rail may not come to agreement with the Council and the 
Council again would deliver the works.

4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 Should the Council not accept funding at this time, if it is offered, it is unlikely that 
it will receive funding to deliver a scheme at Seamill in the future.

4.2 Network Rail has confirmed it can undertake the work for less than applied for, 
leaving a large contingency, should the Council be offered the funding and 
agreements are in place to transfer the funding to Network Rail to undertake the 
work.

4.3 Should the Council accept the funding and deliver the project itself, there is very 
little contingency in terms of time and budget to deliver the scheme.

5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 The Legal / Monitoring Officer’s comments are: 
Section 4 of the Coast Protection Act 1949 allows the Council, as a coastal erosion 
risk management authority, to carry out coast protection work inside or outside its 
area where it thinks the work is desirable having regard to national flood and 
coastal erosion risk management strategies and that the purpose of the work is to 
manage a coastal erosion risk in the Council’s area. It makes sense, if not essential 
due to the partnership contribution point the report makes, to do the works now, 
engaging Network Rail to undertake the work as part of their larger scheme. They 
can also deal with obtaining any necessary consents including that from the 
landowner, St Bees Parish Council. If Network Rail is so engaged then an 
agreement will be required between the Council and Network Rail so that the 
Council appoints them to undertake this work under the 1949 Act and address the 
usual performance, indemnity and other risks of this type of contract.

Page 22



In terms of the grant funding itself the receipt of this is delegated to the 
Executive. Appendix E, 5.12 of financial regulations requires certain matters to be 
satisfied. Firstly any statutory requirements must be satisfied, in this case the 
conditions around the power mentioned above. Secondly the funds are acquired 
only to meet the priorities approved in the policy framework. 
Indirectly the works will be supporting the protection of the west Cumbria railway 
which supports regeneration (ambitions 1 and 3 of the Corporate Strategy 
2016-2020). Thirdly, any match funding requirements should be given due 
consideration so that future revenue budgets reflect these. In this case any future 
maintenance of the improved works will be borne by the coastal defence budget. 
Fourthly a management fee should be charged ‘for the costs of administering such 
accountable bodies’. In this case the Council is not acting as an accountable body – 
it is drawing down grant to undertake works itself via a contractor. Fifthly, any claw 
back conditions should be considered- these will be known if the offer of grant is 
made and can be considered at that time to ensure that they are acceptable.

5.2 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

6. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

6.1 Should Network Rail deliver the works, the resource requirements will be those of 
legal and financial to ensure all appropriate agreements are in place.

6.2 Should the Council deliver the scheme, there will be a much greater resource 
requirement.  The Council will need make a Marine Licence Application, which 
officer (mainly Flood and Coastal Defence Engineer) and cost implications.  The 
procurement process, which will require input from the Flood and Coastal Defence 
Engineer, Procurement Officer, Legal, Finance and most likely expertise for the 
tendering process, which it may or may not have internally.

7. HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE MANAGED?

7.1 Should the work be undertaken by Network Rail, the project would be managed by 
Network Rail and most of the risk will lie with Network Rail.  There is still some risk 
to the Council, as the accountable body accepting the funding.  However, there is a 
large contingency in the amount applied for compared to the cost that Network 
Rail can deliver the additional work for.

7.2 Should the work be delivered by the Council then the Council’s Project 
Management Framework will be used.  The lead officer is expected to be the Flood 

Page 23



and Coastal Defence Engineer, with assistance as necessary provided by suitably 
qualified staff.

7.3 Should the work be delivered by the Council there is a risk that early delays mean 
that a Marine Licence is not in place in sufficient time to deliver the work in year.  
It is proposed that the Council’s car park at St Bees be used for the contractor’s site 
compound and that access to site be made via the lifeboat ramp.

7.4 The Environment Agency are flexible enough to allow the project to slip over into 
the next financial year, as long as most of the expenditure is completed within the 
financial year.  By early set up of the site compound and delivery of rock armour to 
the compound before the Marine Licence is granted and/or the end of the financial 
year.

8. WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

8.1 The outcome for the proposal will see additional protection to properties within 
Copeland to the risk of being lost to coastal erosion.

List of Appendices 

Appendix A - Exceptions Request
Appendix B - Project Programme

List of Background Documents:

Page 24



Page 1 of 4

Cumbria and Lancashire Capital Review Group

Title: Seamill Coastal Erosion Protection

Please clearly state what decision you are seeking from the Capital Review Group

Copeland Borough Council is seeking the Capital Delivery Board to agree an exception 
request for £150k of Flood Defence Grant in Aid funding for installation of a rock armour 
revetment at Seamill, St Bees, Cumbria. Currently, 5 properties and the Cumbria Coast 
railway, at Seamill are at medium term of being lost due to coastal erosion. This investment 
will allow Network Rail to extend the proposed extent of imminent coast protection works in 
the immediate vicinity. Non-investment at this time will result in the loss of £1,415k worth of 
partnership contribution sand an estimated £75k in efficiency savings.  This scheme will be 
delivered in financial year 2019/20. It is unlikely that any scheme will be delivered at Seamill 
in the future if the opportunity to extend the Network Rail scheme is not taken

Key points for discussion 

Coastal Defence at Seamill protect both the railway and 5 properties from coastal erosion.

The Cumbria Coastal Strategy, which is due to be completed in December 2019 has 
identified a scheme will be required for the Seamill location as soon as possible as the result 
of failing rock armour defences that protect the location from coastal erosion.  A bid has been 
included in the Six Year programme for funding to commence in 2021.  The strategy has 
identified a low partnership funding score with a need to partner with Network Rail to 
undertake the works.

Recent Network Rail inspection of defences has ascertained the need for immediate works to 
be undertaken to ensure the safety of the railway.  The Network Rail defences are in poor 
condition and those protecting properties have effectively failed.

Network Rail is currently estimating its capital works to cost £1.415m.  By including £150k of 
Flood Defence Grant in Aid funding the raw partnership score is 11%, with an adjusted 
funding score of 102% and a benefit to cost ratio of 1.42.

Please express the risk/confidence associated with evidence and analysis in papers 
(where relevant)

We have included for a 30% optimism bias across all appraisal, design and construction 
costs. We have equated the cost using Environment Agency guidance and consultation with 
Network Rail who have used comparative estimating techniques.

How will the key messages/decisions be communicated 

Network Rail is one of the members of the Cumbria Coastal Strategy Project Review Group.  
The project has undertaken public consultation.  As well as the opportunity to consult on line, 
a number of drop in session, with 2 in Copeland, at Whitehaven Library on 21st November 
2018 and Millom library on 27th November 2018.  For Seamill, the options for consideration 
were, do nothing, do minimum, Hold the Line through proactive maintenance, hold the line 
through improving existing defences and hold the line through construction of new seawall or 
revetments.

Discussions have taken place with Network Rail in order to try and confirm the economics of 

Page 25



Page 2 of 4

the case and to obtain agreement for funding to be passed over for the work to be 
undertaken as part of is scheme.  Agreements aside, extension of the physical limits of the 
Marine Licence Application, currently out for consultation will need to be considered.

Internally Copeland Borough Council are undertaking discussions to gain approval for 
accepting the funding and transferring it to Network rail under agreement to undertake the 
work.

Form completed by: David Bechelli
Date: 19th September 2019

Page 26



Page 3 of 4

1.0 Background

As Coast Protection Copeland Borough Council identified the need to upgrade the defences 
at Seamill a number of years ago, in order to “Hold the Line” in line with SMP policy for all 
three epochs.  (Policy Unit 11d5.7)  In 2011 Copeland Borough Council commissioned 
Capita Symonds to undertake an options appraisal for coast protection at Seamill.  This 
identified the sections of existing defences that were maintained by Network Rail.

During the winter storms of 2013/2014, significant erosion took place, even behind existing 
protection.  Existing gabion baskets were damaged or destroyed and rock armour was 
displaced.

In 2015/2016, a bid for FCERM funding was made, commencing in 2021, with a low PF 
score of 54% for the initial bid.  A modified bid has been included in the six year programme, 
with the PF score having dropped to 40%.  However, a Network Rail Asset Manager had 
given a verbal agreement to working with Copeland Borough Council and providing a 
partnership contribution.

Urgent works are required by Network Rail due to the deterioration of defence, with the rock 
armour having effectively failed.  Network Rail has therefore been working on a plan for 
coast protection scheme at Seamill, with works due to start on site on 14th October 2019.  
Part of this works includes regrading a steep natural coastal slope, concrete repairs 
installation of rock armour at Seamill.

It was only after being asked to consult on the MLA licence application for the proposed 
works that Copeland Borough Council became aware of the proposal from Network Rail.

The funding requested will help to provide protection to properties at a lower cost than the 
original bespoke bid for Grant in Aid in the Six Year Programme.  Missing out at this stage 
will mean losing the partnership contributions that would then make the scheme unlikely to 
proceed in the future.

2.0 Delivery Implications

Financial Case

The estimate for the works is £1.565m (inclusive of site management and running cost and a 
30% optimum bias) to which Network Rail have committed £1.415m, as the main part of the 
works is protect the existing Cumbrian Coast railway, which is situated landward of six 
properties at Seamill.

Economic Case

Recommendation

The Capital Review Group is asked to agree an exception request for £150k of Flood 
Defence Grant in Aid funding to install a further 30m of rock armour to the north of an 
imminent Network Rail scheme, at Seamill, St Bees, Cumbria.

Page 27



Page 4 of 4

The Cumbria Coastal Strategy considered the options included in the Capita Symonds 
Options Appraisal report.  This was written before the damage caused by the 2013/2014 
winter storms and the time to initiate some of the options has now passed.  

The do nothing option in 2011 estimated the residual life of existing defences at Seamill to 
be 12 years.  This would result in the loss of the car park and properties and eventually the 
railway.  At the time of the appraisal the do minimum option would result in the loss of the 
car park and four northernmost properties, at an estimated cost of £300k.

The work Network Rail about to undertake does not directly reflect the options outlined in the 
Capita Symonds Options Appraisal report.  It involves undertaking repairs to the existing 
seawall and constructing a new rock revetment, which extends 55m north of Network Rail 
defences and removal of the upper section of headland to the south of the defences.  Based 
on the available information it will cost an additional £150k to extend the rock armour 30m 
further north, protecting the northern most property.  The raw partnership score is 11%, with 
an adjusted funding score of 102% and a benefit to cost ratio of 1.42.

Commercial Case

Copeland Borough Council aim to put in place an agreement for Network Rail to undertake 
the works as an extension of their scheme.  This will create an efficiency saving estimated at 
£75k. 

It is unlikely, that a stand-alone scheme would attract Grant in Aid funding, as Network Rail 
have been identified as a contributor to the partnership funding.  Once their works is 
complete, it is unlikely that there will be the need to undertake work to protect the railway 
until the medium to long term.

3.0 Recommendations and actions being taken by the project team

The Capital Review Group is asked to agree an exception request for £150k of Flood 
Defence Grant in Aid funding to install a further 30m of rock armour to the north of an 
imminent Network Rail scheme, at Seamill, St Bees, Cumbria.

Page 28



Appendix G
PROJECT PLAN NETWORK RAIL DELIVERY

Date: 17th September 2019 Completed
Project Name: Seamill Coastal Defence Works

Project Ref No: Critical date

Workstream Activity Who Activity Timescale Start Date End Date Status Week 01  9th September 2019 02  16th September 2019 03  23rd September 2019 04  30th September 2019 05  7th October 2019 06  14th October 2019 07  21st October 2019 08  28th October 2019 09  4th November 2019 10  11th November 2019 11  18th November 2019 12  25th November 2019 13  2nd December 2019 14  9th December 2019 15  16th December 2019 16  23rd December 2019 17  30th December 2019 18  6th January 2020 19  13th January 2020 20  20th January 2020 21  27th January 2020 22  3rd February 2020 23  10th February 2020 24  17th February 2020 25  24th February 2020
Day M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S

Network Rail Proposed Works Seamill Coastal Defence Works Network Rail 45 days Tue 08.12.2019 Mon 09.12.2019

Working week 6 days Mon to Sat. Mobilisation Network Rail 3 days Tue 08.10.2019 Thu 10.10.2019

Original Plan Rock Armour Deliveries 200t/day Network Rail 35 days Fri 11.10.2019 Wed 21.11.2019

Deliver Rock Armour to Site Network Rail 35 days Mon 14.10.2019 Fri 23.11.2019

Build up Working Platform Network Rail 15 days Wed 16.10.2019 Fri 01.11.2019

Regrade Slope Network Rail 20 days Fri 18.10.2019 Sat 09.11.2019

Concrete Repairs Network Rail 5 days Mon 21.10.2019 Fri 25.10.2019

Install Rock Armour Network Rail 35 days Sat 26.10.2019 Thu 05.12.2019

De-mobilisation Network Rail 3 days Fri 06.12.2019 Mon 09.12.2019

Workstream Activity Who Activity Timescale Start Date End Date Status
Week 01  9th September 2019 02  16th September 2019 03  23rd September 2019 04  30th September 2019 05  7th October 2019 06  14th October 2019 07  21st October 2019 08  28th October 2019 09  4th November 2019 10  11th November 2019 11  18th November 2019 12  25th November 2019 13  2nd December 2019 14  9th December 2019 15  16th December 2019 16  23rd December 2019 17  30th December 2019 18  6th January 2020 19  13th January 2020 20  20th January 2020 21  27th January 2020 22  3rd February 2020 23  10th February 2020 24  17th February 2020 25  24th February 2020
Day M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S M T W T F S S

Additional Protection Installation of Additional Rock Armour Network Rail on behalf of 21 weeks Wed 09.09.2019 Wed 22.01.2020
Copeland Borough Council

Working week 5 days Mon to Fri. Application for Funding David Bechelli 7 days Wed 11.09.2019 Thu 19.09.2019

Approval of Exception Request Environment Agency 21 days Fri 20.09.2019 Fri 18.10.2019

Approval to Accept Funding Copeland Borough Council 11 days Fri 13.09.2019 Fri 27.09.2019

Approval to Transfer to Network Rail CBC & NR 15 days Mon 30.09.2019 Fri 10.10.2019

Approval of Outline Business Case Environment Agency 4 to 6 weeks Mon 21.10.2019 Fri 29.11.2019

Modification of Marine Licence Network Rail 5 days Mon 02.12.2019 Fri 06.12.2019

Consideration of MLA Marine Management Organisation 4 weeks Mon 09.12.2019 Fri 17.01.2020

Rock Armour Deliveries 200t/day Network Rail 6 days Mon 06.01.2020 Mon 13.01.2020

Deliver Rock Armour to Site Network Rail 6 days Wed 08.01.2020 Wed 15.01.2020

Install Rock Armour Network Rail 6 days Fri 10.01.2020 Fri 17.01.2020

De-mobilisation Network Rail 3 days Mon 20.02.2020 Wed 22.01.2020

P
age 29



T
his page is intentionally left blank



FIXED DATES OR PERIODS

19.09.2019 - Deadline for next submission to Environment Agency for "Exceptions Request".
14 weeks - Statutory period for Marine Management to consider application for licence.
4 weeks (TBC) - Period to consider variation to existing licence.

ASSUMPTIONS MADE - GENERAL

No fixed date for Environment Agency to consider "Exceptions Request", so assumed approval 18th October 2019.
Copeland approval to accept funding  in place prior to announcement by Environment Agency of successful outcome.
Network Rail working week on site 6 days for its work, 5 days for additional work.
Approval for Outline Business Case from Environment Agency 4 to 6 weeks, assume 6 weeks.
Assume two week shut down of everything over Christmas period except for variation to licence.

ASSUMPTIONS MADE - AGREEMENT FOR NETWORK RAIL TO UNDERTAKE WORKS AS EXTENSION

No additional mobilisation required.
Estimated 180 linear metres of Network Rail planned rock armour, so additional protection time proportioned.
Agreement to Network Rail accepting funding to undertake additional works in place prior to announcement by Environment Agency of successful outcome.
Network Rail to apply to amend Marine Licence after announcement by Environment Agency of approval of Outline Business Case.

Page 31



No fixed date for Environment Agency to consider "Exceptions Request", so assumed approval 18th October 2019.
Copeland approval to accept funding  in place prior to announcement by Environment Agency of successful outcome.

Estimated 180 linear metres of Network Rail planned rock armour, so additional protection time proportioned.
Agreement to Network Rail accepting funding to undertake additional works in place prior to announcement by Environment Agency of successful outcome.
Network Rail to apply to amend Marine Licence after announcement by Environment Agency of approval of Outline Business Case.

Page 32



EXE 071019

LEAD MEMBER:  Councillor Steven Morgan
LEAD OFFICER: Julie Betteridge, Director for Growth and Inclusive 

Communities
REPORT AUTHOR: James Hunter, Parks & Open Spaces Manager

WHAT BENEFITS WILL THESE PROPOSALS BRING TO COPELAND RESIDENTS?

The Council provides and manages a burial service at five cemetery sites across the 
borough- Whitehaven, Hensingham, Beckermet, Nether Wasdale and Millom.  

WHY HAS THIS REPORT COME TO THE EXECUTIVE?

Executive is requested to support the Project Initiation Document (PID) at Appendix I 
which outlines a proposal to create new burial space within the existing Ward 8 
extension at Whitehaven Cemetery.

RECOMMENDATIONS:   

1. To approve the proposals to create new burial space within the existing Ward 8 
extension at Whitehaven Cemetery.

2. To consider and approve the Project Initiation Document at Appendix I.

3. To note the estimated cost to deliver this project is £74k and that this will be funded 
from the Council’s approved 2019/20 capital programme.  

4. To agree that the new burial spaces should be consecrated by the Bishop of Carlisle.  

1. INTRODUCTION

1.1 The Council’s Parks & Open Spaces team provides burial service for circa 100 
interments per year at 5 open cemetery sites across the borough: Whitehaven, 
Hensingham, Beckermet, Nether Wasdale and Millom.  Burials account for circa 
10% of our bereavement services provision with circa 90% of services provided 
as cremations at Distington Hal Crematorium.

1.2 This report outlines a proposal to invest in new infrastructure at Whitehaven 
Cemetery to create a further area of usable and accessible burial space through 
extending the existing Ward 8. 

1.3 A strategic plan for bereavement services is currently in development as part of 
the wider programme of planned investment and works to modernise our 

Page 33

Agenda Item 9



bereavement services.  This programme is currently focussed on delivering 
improvements at Distington Hall Crematorium but includes the development of 
options for cemetery provision within the Borough to include alternative service 
offerings for meadow and woodland burials.  

 

2. DISCUSSION

2.1   The most recently extended area of Whitehaven Cemetery is Ward 8 (refer 
Appendix II) which was created in 2008 to provide circa 373 burial plots.  There is 
land to the western end of this area which is set aside to provide further burial 
space within this Ward.  However, it is noted that the ground conditions and 
gradient in this area may pose some challenges when developing design options 
to lay out this area for burial spaces.

2.2 A Tier 1 Ground Water Risk Assessment of the proposed extension land was 
carried out in 2019 to discharge an outstanding Planning condition; namely that 
this area shall not be brought into use until ground investigations have been 
carried out and any remedial measures deemed necessary have been fully 
implemented to protect existing water resources.  The report concludes that 
with regard to potential risks to ground water the proposed area of land is 
suitable for use as an extension to the existing cemetery and that no further 
assessments are required.  

2.3 Following consultation with the Council’s Planning team it has been confirmed 
that no further Planning permissions are required to create an extension to 
burial space and that any infrastructure requirements could comprise permitted 
development under the provisions of the Schedule 2, Part 12, Class A of the 
Town and County Planning (England) Order 2015 (as amended) if required.

2.4 In cemeteries 'consecrated ground' means consecrated according to the rites of 
the established church. The 'unconsecrated' ground is for all other 
denominations and persuasions.    The majority of burial space within Ward 8 at 
Whitehaven Cemetery was consecrated on the 7th August 2008 by the Bishop of 
Carlisle, however, the land identified for further burial space is unconsecrated.  
Given that an area of unconsecrated ground remains available, it is proposed 
that a consecration ceremony by the Bishop of Carlisle should be arranged for 
the new burial spaces.   

Page 34



2.5 Capital investment to design and install new infrastructure in this area of burial 
space will be required to access the new burial space through new paths and a 
roadway, and to provide concrete plinths for headstones.  Whilst some ground 
preparation and finishing works could be carried out via the Parks team, other 
specialist external contractors would be required to design, develop and install 
the more technical aspects of the works, e.g. tarmac roadway, paths, ground 
retaining measures to manage the gradient and concrete plinths.   

2.6 An indicative layout for extending Ward 8 is provided at Appendix III.  Using 
existing project information, it is estimated that a budget of £74k would be 
required to develop the space to create circa 128 burial plots, capable of 
accommodating 256 burials.    Full costs and the extent of the extension area 
that can be achieved will be known following the development of a tender 
package and procurement exercise.    Owing to the nature of the ground in this 
area, including the gradient, it is advised that no more than 2 burials per plot can 
be achieved.  Based on the average number of new graves required per year, this 
would extend our current provision at Whitehaven Cemetery for a further 6.7 
years.  Together, with the existing burial space, this would provide capacity in 
this area until 2027.

3. ALTERNATIVE OPTIONS TO BE CONSIDERED 

3.1 There is no statutory duty on a local authority to provide burial facilities, but if 
they do so, the management is governed by the Local Authorities’ Cemeteries 
Order 1977.  Local Authorities are defined as burial authorities and given the 
power to provide cemeteries by virtue of the Local Government Act 1972. Burial 
authorities are authorised, but not required, to provide burial grounds.
 

3.2 The Council has the option to maximise burial space in line with its development 
plans within the existing footprint of Whitehaven Cemetery and this proposal 
does this.  

3.3 The Council has the option not to undertake this extension to increase burial 
space at the existing cemetery in Whitehaven.  The Council would continue to 
offer burials at its other open cemeteries (Hensingham, Beckermet, Nether 
Wasdale, and Millom) and continue to provide a cremation service at Distington 
Hall Crematorium.  

 

Page 35



4. CONCLUSIONS

4.1 The Council’s Whitehaven Cemetery currently has land set aside for new burial 
space within Ward 8 (refer Appendix II).

4.2 An estimated capital investment of £74k is required to design, develop and 
install infrastructure to create new burial space at Ward 8 in Whitehaven 
Cemetery which, along with existing burials space, is capable of providing 
capacity until 2027.   Executive are recommended to agree the attached Project 
Initiation Document (PID) for the works, agree to fund this project from the 
Council’s approved 2019/20 Capital Programme.

5.     STATUTORY OFFICER COMMENTS 

5.1 Legal / Monitoring Officer’s comments are: Legal comments are contained 
within paragraph 3.1 of the report. No further legal issues arise.

5.3 The Section 151 Officer’s comments are: Contained within the report

5.4 EIA Comments:  All developments within the Whitehaven Cemetery are 
undertaken within the original EIA for this site and is guided by the Council’s 
Equality Scheme.

5.5 Policy Framework:  The Council provides Cemeteries and manages, maintains 
and develops these within the corporate strategy commitments and national 
regulatory guidance.

6. RESOURCE REQUIREMENTS

6.1 External professional services will be required to prepare designs, specifications 
and a full package of works suitable for tendering.   

6.2 Input from relevant service areas including Legal, Property, Finance and 
Communications have been and will continue to be required to support the 
delivery of the work required.

6.3 The current 2018/19 – 2020/2021 capital resourcing includes funding of 
£240,322 for increasing burial capacity / extending the cemetery.  This funding 
will be required in part to extend the existing burial space at Ward 8.  A capital 
investment of 74k has been estimated to develop and implement works to 
extend Ward 8.  Full costs will be known following the preparation of a tender 
package and full procurement exercise.  

 

Page 36



7.      HOW WILL THE PROPOSALS BE PROJECT MANAGED AND HOW ARE THE RISKS 
GOING TO BE  MANAGED?

7.1 This work stream will be managed by the Open Spaces Manager who will be 
supported by the Bereavement Services Development Manager. 

7.2 A risk register (including this item) is managed, reviewed and overseen by the 
Bereavement Services Investment Programme.  

7.3 This work stream would be overseen by the Bereavement Services Investment 
Programme. 

8.      WHAT MEASURABLE OUTCOMES OR OUTPUTS WILL ARISE FROM THIS REPORT?

8.1 The creation of further burial space in the Ward 8 Extension at Whitehaven 
Cemetery to meet local need.

List of Appendices 

Appendix I – Project Intiation Document (PID)
Appendix II – Whitehaven Cemetery – Ward 8 Extension
Appendix III – Ward 8 – Proposed layout of new burial space

List of Background Documents:

N/A

Page 37



This page is intentionally left blank



WHITEHAVEN CEMETERY 
WARD 8 EXTENSION

PROJECT INITIATION DOCUMENT 
(PID)

ID: Whitehaven Cemetery Ward 8 Extension

Version: V3

Author: James Hunter

Date: 19/09/2019

Page 39



PMF V2 Final Appendix E Project Initiation Document

Author: James Hunter Version v1 Date: 19/09/2019

2
 

1. Background

In 2008 the Council extended Whitehaven Cemetery to create new circa 373 burial plots.  This 
new burial space (Ward 8) included an area at the western end of this land for further burial 
space when required, however, no infrastructure works were installed in this specific area 
when the Ward 8 extension was created. 

This report outlines a new project to invest in infrastructure to create new usable and 
accessible burial space in the remainder of the Ward 8 Extension (refer to Appendix I).     

2. Business Case

The Council provides a burial service at five open cemetery sites across the borough – 
Whitehaven, Hensingham, Beckermet, Nether Wasdale and Millom.  

Overall the Council’s cemeteries currently have sufficient burial capacity for a number of years, 
however new infrastructure is required at Whitehaven Cemetery to create accessible and 
usable burial spaces within the remaining area of Ward 8.  Investment in infrastructure to 
include paths, an access road, concrete plinths for headstones, retaining wall structures and 
soft landscaping is required to ensure continuous availability of burial space at Whitehaven 
Cemetery.  With this investment it is anticipated that there would be availability of burial plots 
at Whitehaven Cemetery until 2027.

This proposed investment supports the following key elements of the Corporate Plan:

 Ambition 2 Commercialisation):  to deliver the Bereavement Services Investment 
Programme (2018 – 2021), beginning with Distington Crematorium but including the 
strategic management of assets within this service area to focus on maximising the 
commercial opportunities

 Ambition 4 (Strengthen the Way We Operate):  improving our policies and procedures 
relating to cemeteries, including the refresh of the Council’s Management Rules for the 
Crematorium and Cemeteries and the quality of our grave digging and interments 
procedures.  The investment in infrastructure for the remaining area of burial space in 
Ward 8 will provide continuous availability of burial space at Whitehaven Cemetery.

2.1 Reasons for the selected investment:

2.1.1 The most recently extended area of Whitehaven Cemetery is Ward 8 (refer Appendix II) 
which was created in 2008 to provide circa 373 burial plots.  There is land to the 
western end of this area which is set aside to provide further burial space within this 
Ward.  An outstanding Planning Condition remains to be discharged from the original 
Ward 8 Extension Planning Application:  namely that this area shall not be brought into 
use until ground investigations have been carried out and any remedial measures 
deemed necessary have been fully implemented to protect existing water resources.  
The report concludes that with regard to potential risks to ground water the proposed 
area of land is suitable for use as an extension to the existing cemetery and that no 
further assessments are required. 

2.1.2 A Tier 1 Ground Water Risk Assessment of the proposed extension land was carried out 
in 2019 to determine the suitability of this area for use as burial space.  The report 

Page 40



Page 3 of 8

3
concludes that with regard to potential risks to ground water the proposed area of land 
is suitable for use as an extension to the existing cemetery and that no further 
assessments are required.  A copy of this report has been provided to Planning and 
Environment Health to formally discharge this remaining condition.

2.1.3 Following consultation with the Council’s Planning team it has been confirmed that no 
further Planning permissions are required to create an extension to burial space and 
that any infrastructure requirements could comprise permitted development under the 
provisions of the Schedule 2, Part 12, Class A of the Town and County Planning 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) if required.

2.1.4 An indicative layout for extending Ward 8 is provided at Appendix II.  Based on recent 
project information it is estimated that a budget of £74k would be required to develop 
the space to create circa 128 burial plots, capable of accommodating 256 burials.  It has 
been noted that the ground conditions and gradient in this area may pose some 
challenges when developing design options to lay out this area for burial spaces.  Full 
costs and the extent of the extension area will be known following the development of 
a tender package and procurement exercise.    Owing to the nature of the ground in this 
area, including the gradient, it is advised that no more than 2 burials per plot can be 
achieved.  Based on the average number of burials requiring new graves per year, this 
would extend our current provision at Whitehaven Cemetery for a further 6.7 years.   
Together, with the existing burial space, Whitehaven cemetery can be expected to 
reach capacity by 2027.

 2.1.5 Based on the Council’s current fees and charges structure a charge of £749 is levied for 
purchasing the Exclusive Right of Burial – a plot typically capable of accommodating 
two coffins.  Assuming ground conditions allow for 128 new plots it can be expected 
that income to the value of £95k would be generated.  Separate charges for interments 
are applied:  £836 is levied to carry out the internment of a person over 16 years of age.  
No charges are applied for a still born child and a reduced charge of £289 is applied for 
those aged 1 month to 16 years.  An additional charge of £346 is levied should the 
internment be for a non-resident of Copeland.  These charges support the staffing and 
operational costs of carrying our grave digging works.  All income related to these 
services is received by the Bereavement Services budget.

2.1.6 Key Benefits:

 Discharge of outstanding Planning Condition for the remaining area of Ward 8 (namely 
that this area shall not be brought into use until ground investigations have been 
carried out and any remedial measures deemed necessary have been fully 
implemented to protect existing water resources).

 Sufficient time to plan and complete the installation of the required infrastructure to 
create accessible and usable burial space, allowing continuous availability of burial 
space

 Continuous provision of service and associated income

3. Project Objectives and Scope

3.1 Project Objectives

Page 41



PMF V2 Final Appendix E Project Initiation Document

Author: James Hunter Version v1 Date: 19/09/2019

4
 To complete & submit a Tier 1 Ground Water Risk Assessment to Planning and 

Environmental Health to discharge an outstanding Planning Condition from the original 
Ward 8 Planning Application and approvals.

 To invest in new infrastructure at Whitehaven Cemetery to create a further area of 
usable and accessible burial space within the existing Ward 8 extension.  (to include 
paths, concrete plinths for headstones, tarmac roadway and retaining ground 
structures to manage gradients and ground stability measures, and consecration of new 
burial plots).

 To create accessible and usable traditional lawn graves (circa 128 plots).

 To successfully procure services to design, procure and install new infrastructure to 
complete the provision of new burial space in Ward 8, Whitehaven Cemetery.

3.2 Project Scope

The scope of this project includes:

 Procurement of technical and design services

 Discharge of an outstanding Planning Condition 

 Tendering of works to install new infrastructure 

 Communications Plan

 Project Management / Delivery and compliance with specifications (including quality), 
budget, CDM and health & safety

The scope of this project does not include:

- any additional infrastructure not identified within this report, e.g. land drainage, 
boundary treatments etc.

4. Project Deliverables

Product Lead Timescale
Technical design / Tendering 
Package

Bereavement Services 
Development Manager / External 
Professional Services

Dec 2019 – Feb 2020

Procurement Bereavement Services 
Development Manager 

March 2020 – May 2020

Project Delivery Bereavement Services 
Development Manager 

June 2020 – Sept 2020

5. Project Approach

Stage 1: 

 Development of PID
 Consultation with CLT/Advisor/Portfolio Holder
 Executive Approval to approve capital draw down and add project to Capital 

Programme 2019/20
 Communications (via Stakeholder Group & Bereavement Services Bulletin)

Page 42



Page 5 of 8

5
Stage 2:  

 Procurement of external professional services for design and development of tendering 
package of works

 Tendering of works
 Evaluation of tenders
 Appointment of contractor
 Development of Communications Plan

Stage 3:  
 Project delivery / implementation
 Implementation of Communications Plan
 Project Management of main contractor
 Snagging
 Completion of works
 Handover

6.   Project Plan

Once the contract has been let, a full project plan for stage 3 will be developed by the 
Bereavement Services Development Manager.

7. Organisation – Roles and Responsibilities

Investment Programme Lead/Sponsor: Director for Growth and Inclusive Communities handing 
to the Head of Operational and Commercial Services once in post.

Project Lead:  Parks & Open Spaces Manager

Project Manager: Bereavement Services Development Manager

Project Support: Bereavement Services team, other Council teams (Planning, Legal, 
Communications, Finance)

Project Technical Advisor: To be appointed

8. Communications

The Communications plan will be developed at stage 2 and used to ensure pro-active 
communications with residents, visitors to the Whitehaven Cemetery and 3 tier elected 
members.   CLT will be kept informed by the project sponsor.  The portfolio holder will be kept 
fully informed and the project team will use corporate communication routes to keep 
executive and other members informed.    Signage and formal public communications will be 
managed throughout stage 3 works at the Cemetery.

9. Resource Requirements

 Capital budget - £74k (already within the Council’s approved 2019/20 capital 
programme).  

 Project Management (Bereavement Services Development Manager)
 External technical and professional services

Page 43



PMF V2 Final Appendix E Project Initiation Document

Author: James Hunter Version v1 Date: 19/09/2019

6
 CBC Service area support – Legal, Communications, Property

10. Project Costs

Based on recent cemetery extension at Millom Cemetery the following costs are currently 
anticipated:

Item Indicative Cost
Technical Support £9,000
Infrastructure (paths, road, concrete plinths) £59,000
Contingency £6,000
Estimated Total £74,000

11. Project Quality

 Tender Evaluation to include quality assessment and quality controlled throughout the 
works

 Project Management against specification
 Bereavement Services Project Group to oversee project delivery

12. Project Controls

 Project Plan
 Project Meetings
 Risk Register
 Specification of Works

A risk register is already in active use for the Bereavement Services Investment Programme 
(BSIP) and is managed via the regular BSIP Project Meetings

Risks to be added to the Programme register and to be managed/controlled for this project 
include:

 Impacts on customers and services
 Satisfactory discharge of Planning Condition 6
 Design to manage gradient at new burial space
 Supplier (Professional/Technical Services) readiness and availability
 Technical project management 
 Suitability of ground conditions to achieve full design layout and limitations due to 

gradient
 Suitability and capacity of existing ground drainage

14. Equalities Impact Assessment
All developments within Whitehaven Cemetery are undertaken within the original EIA for this 
site.  

Page 44



Page 7 of 8

7
Appendix I

Page 45



PMF V2 Final Appendix E Project Initiation Document

Author: James Hunter Version v1 Date: 19/09/2019

8
Appendix II

Page 46



Ward 8

Proposed Extension

Ward 8 Extension

Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. OS
100030994.

09/09/2019, 14:59:30 0 0.02 0.040.01 mi

0 0.03 0.060.01 km

1:1,250

Copeland Borough Council
Ordnance Survey data © Crown copyright and database right 2019. OS 100030994. |

Page 47



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Page 49



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Statements of Executive Decisions of the Meeting held on 16 September 2019
	Minutes

	6 Forward Plan
	7 Finance Update
	8 Seamill Coastal Erosion Protection
	Appendix A Seamill Exceptions Report v4
	Appendix B1 Seamill Project Programme Planner NR v2
	Appendix B2 Seamill Project Programme Planner NR v2

	9 Cemetery Management
	Appendix I PID - Whitehaven Cemetery Ward 8 Extension 260919
	Appendix II Ward 8 and Extension
	Appendix III Ward 8 - Proposed Layout of New Burial Space


